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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

GERALDINE CAMPFIELD,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 15-cv-1507 (KBJ)

COMMISSIONER OF SOCIAL
SECURITY,

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION ADOPTING
REPORT & RECOMMENDATION OF THE MAGISTRATE JUDGE

Plaintiff Geraldine Campfield appliet® the Commissioner of Social Security
(“Commissioner” o “Defendant”)for disability benefits and supplemental security
income benefits in 2012, claiming thdteswas disabled due to neck and back problems,
as well as stiffness in her left han@AR, ECF No. 53, at 2.} In May of 2014, an
Administrative Law Judg€“ALJ”) held a hearing on Campfield’s application, and
ultimately determined thashe isnot disabled under the Social Security Act
Proceeding pro seCampfieldhas filed the instant lawsuyitequesting that this Court
reverse theALJ’s denial decisiorand grant her benefits(See generally Compl., ECF
No. 1)

On Septembed 7, 2015, thisCourt referred this matter t Magistrate Judge for
full case management(See Min. Order of Sept. 7, 2015.) Five months later,

Campfieldfiled a letterwith enclosuresn which she asked the Court “to go over my

1 Page numbers herein refer to those that the Court’s electroniditiagesystem automatically
assigns.
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Medical Recordsfor the year of 2015; in hopes of ruling in my favor in reference to my
current civil case. (Letter from Geraldine Canfield, ECF No. 8 at 1;see also id. at
2-50 (attaching additional records regarding her medical conditioMayistrate Judge
G. Michael Harvey constied Campfield’s letteras a motion for judgment of reversal
for remand(see Min. Order of Feb4, 2016; Letter from Geraldin€éampfield ECF No.
9, at 1), andon March, 11, 2016, Defendanffiled a motionfor affirmance of the ALJ’s
decision, arguingthat substantial evidence of record supports the conclusion that
Plaintiff was not disabled during the relevant pefi¢Bef.’s Mem. in Supp. of Her
Mot. for J. of Affirmance& in Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. for J. ofReversal, ECF No. 1(at
12).

Before this Court at present is thbemprehensivd&Report and Recommendation
thatMagistrate Judgelarveyhas filed regardingcampfields motion for reversal and
Defendants motion foraffirmance. (See R. & R., ECF No0.15.)?> The Report and
Recommendation reflects Magistrate Judhtprveys opinion thatCampfields motion
for reversalshould be denigdandthatDefendants motion foraffirmanceshould be
granted (Seeid. at1-2, 42) Specifically, Magistrate Judd¢arveyfinds that
substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s decision @anhpfieldwas not disableqsee
id. at 25-36), and that the additional evidence tl@ampfieldsubmitted inthe instant
proceedingvould not have changed the outcome of the underlgictgpn (see id. at 36—
42.) The Report and Recommendation also advtke parties thathe “failure to

timely file objections to the findings amrécommendations set forth in this report may

2 The Report and Recommendatjomhich is 43 pages longs attached hereto as Appendix A.



waive the right of appeal from an ordertbk District Court adpting such findings and
recommendations.” 1. 42—43 (citing Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140, 154 (198p)

Under thisCourt’s local rules, any party who objects to a Report and
Recommendation must file a written objection with the Clerk of the Ceuhin 14
days of the party’s receipt of the Report and Recommendadiosiany suchwritten
objection must specifthe portions of the findings and recommendations to which each
objection is made and the basis for each such objecttea LCVR 73.2(b). On
October 19, 2016-well outside of the 14lay window—Campfield filed with the Court
a document entitled, “Notice dflaterial Facts . . Left Out of My Social Security
Claim[,]” to which she attaches a oip@age medical record from 2015, and 17 pages of
medical records from 2016. (ECF No.,1& 1;see alsoid. at2-19.) In addition to
being untimely, this filing is not a proper objection to the Report and Recommendation,
even under the “less stringent standards” to which federal courlspholselitigants,
Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520 (1972because it fails to specify either the
portion of the indings and recommendationswdich Plaintiff objects or the
underlying basis for any such objectioihus, & of the dateof the instant
Memorandum Opinion (more thafive monthsafter the Report and Recommendation
was issuejino properobjections have been filed.

This Court has reviewed Magistrate Judgarveys Report andRecommendation
andagrees with its careful and thorough analysis ancclusions. In particular, the
Courtagrees with the Magistrate Judtpat substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s
determinations that none of Campfield’s impairments satisfy the requiremettts of
relevant Social Security regulatory listinged R. & R. at 25-28); that Campfield’s

residual functioning capacityermits her to perform light works¢e id. at 28-33); that



Campfield could return to her past work as a mail clesde (d. at 34) and that
Campfield couldadjust to other work available in thetrenal economy gee id. at 34-
36). As a result, this Court concurs with Magistrate Judge Harvey’s caoaltisat
Campfield has “failed to successfully demonstrate that any part afdbision of the
administrative law judge .. was erroneou’ (Id. at 1)

The additional medical documentation that Campfi&dentlysubmitteddoes
not provide any basis for rejecting Magistrate Judge Harvey’s dersd opinion, or
for remanding this action to the Commissionfer, at leasttwo reasons. Firstp the
extent thatsome ofthe recordsappear tadocumentCampfield’sclinical depression
that medicalconditionwasnot mentiord in Campfield’sbenefits applicationand
Magistrate Judge Harveyas correcto observahat Campfield’'sfailure to seek
benefis fordepressionn the underlying administrative proceeding prevents her from
doing so now.(Seeid. at 37; ECF No. 16at2-18.) Second, althoughhe additional
medicaldocumentregardingCampfield’sspineand lower extremitiegndicates thatshe
mayindeedsuffer from a qualifying impairment under the relevant Social Security
regulations ¢ee R. & R. at 38-39; ECF No. 16at 19, the Magistrate Judge already
considered similar documentation, and his Report and Recommendation rightly
concludeghatthis prooffalls short ofestablishing a necessaryealent of Campfield’s
claim for benefitsnamely, that shesuffers from motor loss, spinal arachnoiditis, or an
inability to ambulate effectively(R. & R. at 40 (citing20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpe,
App. 1, 81.04A-C)). Consequentlythis additional evidence would not have changed

the outcome of thadministrativeproceedingeven if it had been submitted belpand



it thereforeprovides no basis for disturbing either the ALJ’s or Magistrate Judge
Harvey’s ruling. See Jones v. Astrue, 647 F.3d 350358 (D.C. Cir. 2011)

In sum, in the absence of any timdlled objections,and after conducting its
own review of this matterhis Courtacceptavagistrate Judge Harvey’s analysis of the
ALJ’s findingsand the reord evidencen full, and will ADOPT the Report and
Recommendation in its entirety. AccordingBlaintiff's [8] Motion for Judgment of
Reversal will beDENIED, and Defendant’s [10] Motion for Judgmeait Affirmance
will be GRANTED.

A separate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

DATE: December 28, 2016 KAanjs Brown Packson
s )

KETANJI BROWN JACKSON
United States District Jueg
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

GERALDINE CAMPFIELD ))
Plaintiff, g

V. )) Case No. 1%v-1507 KBJ/GMH)
CAROLYN W. COLVIN, ))
in her official capacity as )

Acting Commissioner of Social Security )

)
Defendant. )

)

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

This mattemwas rderred to the undersigned ftull case managementn this action,
Plaintiff Geraldine Campfieldoroceedingro se seeks reversal of a decision of the
Commissioner of Social Security denyiner benefits pursuant to the Social Security Act, 42
U.S.C. § 405(g). Before the undersigned dagnEff's motion for judgment of reversal and
Defendant’s motion for judgment of affirmancBlaintiff's briefingin support of her motion
consists of two letters to the Court with several medical records attachethto\sather letter
contains any assertisroferror orsupportingegal argumerst Plaintiff has therefore failed to
successfully demonstrate that any part of the decision afciiménistrative law judgéALJ")
was erroneous. Moreover, having reviewed the administrative recorlantiff’'s additional
medical recordsthe undersigned detects Inasisfor remand or any reversible error in theJ’s

decision. Thus, upon review of the entire recottie undersigned recommends théaiRtiff's

I The relevant docket entries for purposes of this Report and Recommaratati¢l) Plaintiff's Motion for
Judgment of Reversal (“Pl. Mot.”) [Dkt. 8]; (2) Defendant’s Motion Judgment of Affirmance and Opposition to
Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment of Reversal (“Def. Mot.”) [Dkt. 10];)Blaintiff's Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Judgment of Affirmance and Reply in Support of Plaintiffstion for Judgment of Reversal (“PI.
Reply”) [Dkt. 13]; and (4) the Administrative Record (“AR”) [Dkt. 5].
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motion be denied and Defendant’s motion be granted.
BACKGROUND

A. Legal Framework for Social Security Disability Claims

To be eligible for disability benefits under the Social Security &claimant must be
found to be disabled by the Social Security Administration (“SSA”). 42 U.S.C. § 423(a). In
most cases, to determine whether a claimant is disabled within the meaning dof, taefAd
gathers evidencéplds a hearing, takes testimony, and performs a five-step legal evaluation of
the claimant using that evidence. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520.

In that evaluation, the ALJ must determimieether: (1) the claimant is “presently
engaged in substantial gainful activity”; (2) the claimant has a “medicallyesgmpairment or
impairments”; (3) the claimant’s impairment is equivalent to one of the impairtstatsin the
appendix of the relevant disability regulation; (4) the impairment pretlemtdaimant from
performing his past relevant work; and (5) the claimant, in light of his age,tesycaork
experience, ancesidual functioning capacity RFC’), can still perform another job that is
available in the national economid. A claimant’s RFC is his ability to perform either past

relevant work or any other work available in the national econd@egButler v. Barnhart, 353

F.3d 992, 1000 (D.C. Cir. 2004RAccording to Social Security Ruling (“SSR”) 8, “RFC is
an administrative assessment of the extent to which an individual’'s medicaliyidetae
impairment(s), including any related symptoms, such as pain, may casseapby mental
limitations or restrictions that may affect his or her capacity to do wedated physical and
mental activities” in a work setting for eight hours per day, five dayse& voe an equivalent

work schedule Titles Il & XVI: Assessing Residual Functional Capacity in Initial Clai®SR
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96-8p, 1996 WL 374184, at *2 (July 2, 1996)In short,it represents the most a claimant is able
to do notwithstanding highysical or mental limitationsSeeButler, 353 F.3d at 1000.

The claimant bears the burden of proof in the first four steps of the evalu@tiahan
v. Astrue 786 F. Supp. 2d 87, 89 (D.D.C. 2011). At step five, however, the burden shifts to the
Commissioner to identify specific jobs available in the national economy that itmaictacan
perform. Id. In making this determination, an ALJ may callacationalexpert (‘VE”) to testify
as to whether a claimant can perform other work that exists in the nationaheg Id. at 90.
A VE may draw her conclusions from a number of sources, includingittienary of
Occupational Title¢*'DOT"). Id. The DOT, last published by the U.S. Department of Labor in
1991, provides a brief description of occupations within the national economy and lists the

capabilities that each occupation requires of a worgeegenerallyintroduction toDOT (4th

ed. 1991)availableat 1991 WL 645964 Along with VE testimony, the SSA generally relies on
the DOT to determine if there are jobs in the national economy that a claimgrgréarm given
his RFC. See20 C.F.R. 88 416.966—416.969.

B. Relevant Facts

1. Plaintiff Geraldine Campfield

At the time of the alleged onset of her disability, Plaintiff was-gé=rold woman
residing inthe District of Columbia AR 19. Shereached the 10th grade in high school and
never acquired a high school equivalent degtdeat 33. Plaintiffpreviously worked as mail

clerk for twelve years Id. at 19, 238.

2The SSA publishes SSRs that “are binding on all components of the Secialty Administration. These rulings
represent precedentfial] final opinions and orders and statemerdkogfand interpretations that [the SSA has]
adopted.” 20 C.F.R. § 40&)(1).

3 Under the relevant regulations, Plaintiff was considergakason closely approaching advanced agi¢h a
“limited educatioh at the commencement of her alleged disabil§ge20 C.F.R. § 416.96%5.
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2. Plaintiff's Application for Benefits

OnJuly 13, 2012Plaintiff filed applicatios for disability insurancéenefitsand
supplemental security income undatles Il and XVI ofthe SocialSecurity Act respectively
Id. at56. Plaintiff allegeddisability beginningMay 8, 2012, due to neck and back problems as
well as stiffness in her left handd. On August8, 2012 the Commissioner initially denied
Plaintiff's clains, determininghat hercurrent symptoms were not severe enoudteap her
from working Id. at95. Plaintiff requested reconsideration of tdatision but the
Commissioner again denied her claion December 5, 20;18iting medicalreportsthat showed
herability to performsome less plsjcally demanding types of work despite her pain in the back,
neck, and handld. at106. On Februaryl, 2013 Plaintiff filed a writtenrequest fola hearing,
which the Commissioner grantettl. at 118-19. Plaintiff appeared and testified at a hearing
held beforean ALJ on May 13, 2014]d. at29-54. OnJune 25, 2014, the ALJ deniBthintiff's
claims on the groundshatshecould return to her past work as a mail clerk and thatsise
capable operforming*“light work” availablein the national economyid. at 20%

Plaintiff appealedhe ALJ’sdecision, and on August 3, 2015, tecial Security Appeals
Council denied her request for review. atl1-3. The ALJ’s decision thus became the

Commissioner’s final decisiosgeRyan v. Bentsen, 12 F.3d 245, 247 (D.C. Cir. 1993), and

Plaintiff then commenced this action for review of that decision.

4 Light work involves

lifting no more han 20 pounds at a time with frequent lifting or carrying of objeeighing up to 10
pounds. . .. [A] job is in this category when it requires a good deal ofngadkistanding, or when it
involves sitting most of the time with some pushing and pubinarm or leg controls. . . . If someone can
do light work, we determine that he or she can also do sedentary was timtre are additional limiting
factors such as loss of fine dexterity or inability to sit for long periddisne.

1d. § 404.1567(p
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3. The Administrative Record

An administrative hearing/as held in this case before an ALAR 29-54. During this
hearing Plaintiff testified andvas represented by counsél. at 29 TheALJ evaluated
Plaintiff's symptoms based on evidence in the administrative record, includaigahecords
and opinions, Plaintiff's statements, and testimony frovica Theundersigned recounts the
relevant portions of the administrative record below.

a. Dr. Jeff Jacobson — Treating Physician

On May 8, 2009, Plaintiff underweah MRIwhich revealed multievel cervical
spondylosis, cord flattening, and central stenosis at the C5-C6 vertebat320. Plaintiff was
diagnosed with a herniated disc, cervical spondyfoaig] cervical myelopathy.Id. at 696. On
July 21, 2009, Dr. Jeff Jacobson, a neurologist, performed an anterior cervical digéeatdm
fusion at C5-C6 talleviatePlaintiff's condition. Id. During a follow-up evaluation on
September 21, 2009, Dr. Jacobson observed that Plaintiff was recovering adeddaae|y06°
He recommended outpatient physical therapy and “ultimately [felt] bigasisould be able to

return to the work force.’ld.

5 Spondylosis is an umbrella term referring to various degenerasigastis of the spirdn this case, the problems
centered around the cervical region of Plaintiff's spiBeeMerriamWebster Medical Dictionary, “spondylosis”
(rev. ed. 2005)availableat http://www.merriamwebster.com/medical/spondylosis (last visited July 15, 2016).

6 Myelopathy is a disease or disorder of the spinal cord or bone mag®silerriamWebster Medical Dictionary,
“myelopathy (rev. ed. 2005)availableat http://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/myelopathy (last visited
July 15, 2016)

" A discectomy is a surgical procedure to remove a spinal @iskMerriam-Webster Medical Dictionary,
“-ectomy” (rev. ed. 2005gavailableat http://www.merriarawebster.cordictionary/ectomy (last visited July 15,
2016).

81n the ALJ's factual determinations, he found that Dr. Jacotrsstrict[ed] [Plaintiff] from lifting and from
working in 2009[.]" AR 18. A review of the record does not reveal such actestrby Dr. Jacobson, but the
undersigned notes that some restriction may be reasonably inferredhisdollow-up evaluation.Seeid. at 706.
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Plaintiff visited Wanda Evans, a physical therapist, on October 15, 2009, reporting
difficulty sleeping due to pain in her neck, shoulder, and right ddmat 418-19. Ms. Evans
instructed Plaintiff to perform home exercises, Blatintiff laterreported to Ms. Evarthat she
did not complete themld. at 433. On November 11, 2009, Plaintiff visited Dr. Douglas
Vanzoeren with complaints of pain caused by returning to work “too sddndt 430. Plaintiff
claimed that her nealogistadvised her “nofto] return to work before the end of the year,” but
her employefoundthat“the documentation for this was insufficientd.

b. Drs. Cesar Torresand Mary Rae —Treating Physicians

On April 20, 2012, Plaintiff reported pain in her left shoulder to Dr. Cesar Torres, her
primary care physicianld. at 362. He recommended that Plaintiff rest her shoulder, apply ice to
the area, and take ovtre-counter pain relievers to manage thepad. at 363. In addition, Dr.
Torres instructed Plaintiff to perform range of motion exercises at hoth® aaturn to the
clinic if her symptoms worsened or failed to imprové. Plaintiff returned on May 4, 2012,
reportingthat her pain persistezhd that the over-the-counter medication was unhelpdubat
359. Dr. Torres ordered an X-ray of Plaintiff's shoulder, prescribed a musdalangland
excused her from work until May 7, 201Ri. at 360, 707. Moreover, Dr. Torres instructed
Plainiff not to use her left shoulder at work before her follow-up appointment on May 18, 2012.
Seeid. at 707.

At the follow-up appointment, an examination of Plaintiff's shoulder revealed signs of
impingement syndrome, so Dr. Torres recommended treatment with a sterdidnnj&t at
357-58. Plaintiff declined the injection, preferring medication insté&hdat 358. Dr. Torres

prescribed an antnflammatory drugreferred Plaintiff to an orthopedic clinendscheduledn
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additional follow-up appointment for June 6, 201@. at 358, 708. He extended Plaintiff's
leave of absence from work until that appointméddt.at 708.

On May 25, 2012, Plaintiff visited Dr. Mary Rae, an orthopedic physasaistantwho
performed a physical examination of Plaintiff's spine and left ddnat 301. This examination
revealed tenderness at Plaintifie$t shoulder and neck and slight limitations to her spine’s
lateral bending and flexiond. An X-ray also reveald calcification of Plaintiff's distal rotator
cuff, but no fracture, dislocation, or other significant degative changedd. Dr. Rae
diagnosed Plaintiff with tendinitis in her left shouldéd. at 299. She recommended a steroid
injection, over-the-counter pain relievers, and nodefir activity. Id. at 301. On June 6, 2012,
Dr. Rae administered a steroid injectiorPlaintiff's left shoulder and told her to return in a few
weeks if the symptoms worsened or did not imprddeat 295-96.

That same day, Plaintiff returned to Dr. Torres for her next follow-up appointr8est
id. at 340. During this visit, Dr. Torres observed that Plaintiff could not “elevate gfier] |
shoulder to any extent” and doubted the possibility of an extensive recddeay.340-41. He
extended Plaintiff's leave of absence until June 15, 2012, for a “final eval[uatiomjito t@
work.” Id. at 341, 710. Durinthat evaluationDr. Torres observed pain and decreasede of
motion inherleft shoulder.ld. at 338. He diagnosed her with a left rotator cuff tear and referred
her for an orthopedic specialist consultatideh. at 338—39.0nce againDr. Torres extended
Plaintiff's leave of absendeom work until that consultation, which he anticipated would occur
on approximately July 6, 2012d. at 712.

On June 21, 2012, Dr. Torres reviewed the results from Plaintiff's left shouldsey, X-
finding evidence of tendinitis but no indicationsadfull thickness tear in Plaintiff's rotator cuff.

Id. at 388-89. According to the administrative record, Plaintiff did not visit Dr. Torr@s aga
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until April 3, 2014. Seeid. at 724. During this visit, Dr. Torres diagnosed Plaintiff with cervical
radiaulopathy and spinal stenosisin her cervical spineld. He instructed Plaintiff to treat
these conditions with two daily doses of morphitge. Based on her current treatment records,
seeinfra Part B.6, Plaintiff no longer takes morphine or any other narcotic for pain.
C. Dr. Omar Akhtar — Consultative Physician

Plaintiff visited Dr. Omar Akhtar, an orthopedic specialist, on June 20, 2012, pursuant to
Dr. Torres’ referral.ld. at 333. Plaintiff reported an aching, sharp, stabbing, and throbbing pain
in her left shoulder, which she rated as an 8 out ofld0Dr. Akhtar diagnosed Plaintiff with
severe shoulder inflammation and opined that she had “possible nerve irritation in her ldeck.”
at 713. He excused her from working for the next six wekksTo treatPlaintiff’'s conditions,
Dr. Akhtar opined that physical therapy would improve her range of motion and timiffla
cervical spine pain was not causing herustter pain. Id. at 336. Dr. Akhtafurtheropined that
Plaintiff “may or may not” benefit from rotator custirgery but he noted concerns regarding
post-operative stiffness if Plaintiff could not improve her range of motidnFinally, he
ordered an Xay and MRI to evaluate Plaintiff's lower cervical spirid.

On June 24, 2012, Dr. AkhtavaluatedPlaintiff's X-ray andMRI results. Id. at 383,
386. The X-rayrevealed no evidence of a % fusion change, or offeacture or hardware

complication from her surgery on July 21, 2008. at 386—-87. Plaintiff's MRI showed

9 Radiculopathy is irritation of or injury to a nerve root (as from bemmpressed) that typically causes pain,
numbness, or weakness in the part of the body whishgplied with nerves from that roogeeMerriamWebster
Medical Dictionary, “radiculopathy” (rev. ed. 2008)ailableat http://www.merriam
webster.com/dictionary/radiculopathy (last visited July 15, 2016).

10 Spinal stenosis refers to the narrowing of the spinal column that prodesssigron the nerve roots resulting in
sciatica and a condition resembling intermittent claudication and that usualissdc middle or old ageSee
MerriamWebster Medical Qutionary, ‘spinal stenosi(rev. ed. 2005)availableat http://www.merriam
webster.com/medical/spinal%20stendfast visited July 15, 2016).
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“[d] egenerative disc disease. with up to moderate neural foraminal and minimal central canal
stenosig]” Id. at 385.
d. Yvette Francis— Physical Therapist

On June 25, 2012, Plaintiff saw Yvette Francis, a physical therapist, clamregt a
clicking or popping noise in her left shoulder that was accompanied by a burningasensiati
at 330. Ms. Francis recommended that Plaintiff administer a cold pack to theraexadr
twelve minutes daily.d. at 330-31. Sheonsideredlaintiff “a good rehab candidate,” opining
that Plaintiff would be able to perform her jodlated dutiesi(., lifting thirty to forty-five
pounds of mail matter) within nine or ten physical therapy appointmghtat 331-32. On July
17, 2012, Plaintiff reported an inability to work, due to weakness in her left side and s@vere pa
that increased by sitting, laying down, or turning her hdddat323. Ms. Francis treated
Plaintiff’'s symptoms with a cold pack and noted tenderness and decreased naogemfalong
Plaintiff's cervical spine.ld. at 324. Ms. Francis decided that more therapy sessions were
required to determine whether Plaintiff was an “appropriate candidate thagroefit rom
[physical therapy] services.ld.

During a session on July 25, 2012, Plaintiff rated her neck pain as a 6 out of 10, which
increased when she was activd. at 322. She was unable to tolerate her neck being touched, so
Ms. Francis recommended that Plaintiff visgain management center (“PMC’'Id. Plaintiff
returned to Ms. Francis on August 9, 2012, again reporting severe neckdo@n510. She
also reported making appointment with a PMC in latgugust. Id. Ms. Francis determined
that Plaintiff was experiencing no improvement from physical therapy antbdgsd her to the

PMC. Id.
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e. Drs. Hwei Lin and Vrishali Dalvi — Consultative Physicians

Dr. Torres referred Plaintiff t®r. Hwei Lin, an anesthesiologist, and on August 22,
2012,Plaintiff reportedan achingshoulder pain that worsened by sitting, walking, and lifting.
Id. at 505. She rated her pain as a 9 out ofld0 Dr. Lin opined that she had adhesive
capsulitis oftheleft shoulder.Id. at 508! Dr. Lin recommended a steroid injection, but
Plaintiff first wanted to try paunelieving medicationsid. During alater visit onNovember 27,
2013, Dr. Lin diagnosed Plaintiff with cervical radiculitil. at 7142

On October 15, 2013, Plaintiff saw Dr. Vrishali Dalvi, a rheumatologist, for knee and
back pain.ld. at 718. Specifically, Plaintiff reported pain in her right knee and lowerthatk
over-the-counter medications could not allevidte. She also reported that she discontinDed
Lin’s prescribed medications because she believed that some were ineffective adautbed
rapid heartbeat and shortness of bre&th.Dr. Dalvi recommended that Plainttfieat her
symptoms byapplying capsaicin cream, taking Alevand attempihg regular exerciseld. at
719. Dr. Dalvi also ordered an MRI of Plaintiff's lumbar spitg.at 722. That MRI revealed

trace disc desiccatidhand disc bulging at the L3-L4 and L4-L5 vertebra, but the radiologist

11 Adhesive capsulitis, also known as “frozen shoulder,” is a conditi@rein the shoulder is affected by seve
pain, stiffness, and restricted motioBeeMerriamWebster Medical Dictionary, “frozen shoulder” (rev. ed. 2005),
availableat http://www.merriamwebster.com/medical/frozen%20shoulder (last visited July 15, 2016).

12 Radiculitis is an inflammation @& nerve root here, within the cervical spine&SeeMerriam-Webster Medical
Dictionary, “radiculitis” (rev. ed. 2005gvailableat http://www.merriarawebster.com/medical/radiculitis (last
visited July 15, 2016).

13 Like the colloguial definition, the medical definition of desiccation ref@mrying up. SeeMerriamWebster
Medical Dictionary, “desiccation” (rev. ed. 2008yailableat http://www.merriam
webster.com/medical/desiccation (last visited July 15, 2016).
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observed no acute fractures or subluxatibid. at 723. He did, however, find multilel
spondylotic changes at the 4% and L5-S1 vertebrald.

f. Drs. Esther Pinder and Alex Hemphill — State Medical
Consultants

Dr. Esther Pinder, an SSA consultative physicesajuated Plaintiff's initial disability
claimon August 7, 2012, and determined tR&intiff could occasionally lift twenty pounds,
frequently carry ten pounds, stand or walk for six hours during an eight-hour workday, fand sit
six hours during an eight-hour workdalg. at 69. She also determined that Plaintiff’s left arm
could not push, pull, or reach and that she could never climb ladders, ropes, or sceffdirs.
Pindernoted that Plaintiff is righhanded, able to drive a car, and able “to do most household
chores.” Id. at 70. Dr. Pindeunltimatelyfoundthat Plaintiff was not disabldskcause the
evidence indicated “no significant muscle weakness or loss control . . . secondary to nerve
damage, Plaintiff could use her right arm “without difficulty,” and she could “stand, walk, and
move about.”ld. at 72. Dr. Pinder opined that Plaintiff could perform “light world” at 71.

On December 3, 2012, another SSA physidian Alex Hemphill evaluated Plaintiff's
disability claimduring its reconsiderationid. at 82. Plaintiff reported shortness of breath and
difficulty grooming, dressing, and bathingd. at 76. Like Dr. Pinder, Dr. Hemphill determined
that Plaintiff could occasionally lift twenty pounds, frequently carry ten pouraig] str walk
for six hours during an eight-hour workday, and sit for six hours during an eight-hour workday
Id. at 80. Dr. Hemphill further agreed with Dr. Pinder’s determinations regardimgifPia
degree of mobility, use of her right arm, aadld of muscle weaknesSeeid. at 83. Dr.

Hemphill also found that Plaintiff's impairments precluded her from pushing, pulling, o
4 Subluxation is the partial dislocation of a bone in a joB#eMerriamWebster Medical Dictionary,

“subluxation” (rev. ed. 2005availableat http://www.merriamwebster.com/medical/subluxation (last visited July
15, 2016).
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reaching with her left arm and from climbing ladders, ropes, or scafftddat 8G-81. Like Dr.
Pinder, Dr. Hemphill opined that Plaintiff could perform “light workd. at 82.
g. Plaintiff's Testimony

On October 2, 201 Rlaintiff stated in her function report, submitted as part of her
application for benefitgdhat she can drive a car, shatghe grocery store twice per moifibin
thirty minutes, and handle her own financésk.at 261. As for other household activities,
Plaintiff reported preparing her own meals twice weekly and ironing her c|ditieshe
experienced difficulty cleaniniger bathroom and dustindd. at 260. She also reported
difficulty taking showers, dressing herself, and putting her hair in a panidaat 259. Plaintiff
representethat she cannot walk more thialf a blockwithout resting for ten minutes, thshe
drops objects when handling them for too long, and that she has problems returning to a standing
position after kneeling, bending, and squattiidy.at 263. Plaintiff stated that her “balance isn’t
good.” Id. at 264. Finally, Plaintiff claimed that heattention span is “very shdrtld. at 262.

During the administrative hearing, Plaintifportecthat shestopped working on May 8,
2012, due to problems with her back, neck, and left ddrmat 35. Shetestifiedthat working as
a mail clerk require@writing on forms, checking mail, liftingjand] pulling cages.”Id. at 34.
Plaintiff received longerm disabilitybenefitsuntil February 10, 2014, whestne asker.
Torresfor a note recommending that she could return to wiatkat 46-47, 50%° The note,
Plaintiff claims, prohibited her from heavy lifting, pushing, and pulling, r@strictedher to
three hours of workld. at 50. HoweverRlaintiff's employer did not permit heo return to
work, and she subsequently lost her disability beneliits. She stated that Dr. Torres prescribed

pain medications for her neck problems, which “eases the pain a little,” but shying]tto

5 The ALJ explained that thinote did not appear in the administrative record. AR 18.
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wean [her]self off it"without informing Dr. Torredecause the medication impairs her ability to
focus. Id. at 37. Plaintiff stated that the medication was Percocet, though no recordsendicat
that Dr. Torres prescribed Percocet to HePlaintiff alleged that the medicatineffects lasted
up to four hours.ld. at 48. According to Plaintiff, she cannot stand longer than twenty minutes,
sit longer than thirty minutesy lift more than ten pounds without excruciating péduoh.at 39.
She also reported walking approximgta quarter of a milapproximately three tinseper week
andattending church every Sunday, wherein she must alternate between sittirapdiysid.
at 46. She testified that she attendedncertat Constitution Halbn February 14, 2014d.
h. The VE’s Testimony

At the administrative hearing, the Ab&ardtestimony from &/E, who classified
Plaintiff's prior work as a mail clerk as light workd. at 50. The ALJ then asked the VE to
identify any jobs in the national economy that would be available to a hypothet®ah path
physical and mental limitations and a vocational history similar to Plaintféseid. at 50-51.
The ALJ gave the VEeveral such hypothetical claimants, each with increasing levels of
impairment.

In the first hypothetical, the ALJ described a person who could perform ‘fafngé of
light work” and who could frequently balance, stoop, kneel, crouch, crawtliamoramps and
stairs Id. at 51. This hypothetical person could never climb ropes, ladders, or scaffolds, and this
person could only occasionally reach overhead with the left &tmin response, the VE stated

that such a person would be capable of periog a mail clerk’s tasks, as that joldisfined in

16 percocet is a brand name for a narcotic drug that is a combination of acetemiaop oxycodone andused to
treatmoderate to severe paifeeMayo Clinic, “Oxycodone and Acetaminopheayailableat
http://www.mayoclinic.org/drugsupplements/oxycodorendacetaminophewralroute/description/dr@0074000
(last visited July 22, 2016Both morphine, which Dr. Torres prescribed, and oxycodone, an iegtéd Percocet,
are opioids.
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the DOT. Id. Further, the VE opined that this person could also work as an inspector, ticket
taker, or grading and sorting worker, all of which are categorized asuiggkilled jobs.Id.’

As a second hypothetical, the ALJ asked the VE to assume an additional limithtbhis
hypothetical person would require the ability to alternate between sittthgtanding every
thirty minutes.Id. The VE stated thatuch a persooould not work as mail clerk butthe other
jobs he had listed would still be availalilesomewhat reduced numbeisl. at 51-52.

Plaintiff, through her attorney, offered additional hypotheticals to thelstEat 52. Her
first hypothetical described a person witaintiff's age, education, and work history who
required the ability to sit for thirty minutes before alternating to a standisigjgn for twenty
minutes at a timeld. This person could only walk a quarter of a mii@. Further, this person
could lift up to ten pounds with the right arm and up to five pounds with the leftldrnin
response, the VE opined that the light, unskilled jubsad listedvould be available to this
person in the same numbers as the person described in the ALJ’s second hypoldhetical.
addition to that hypothetical, Plaintiff proposed a further limitation that tmgopecould only
focusfor thirty minutes before becoming distracted for approximately one houmagald.

The VE reponded that such an individual would be off-task for a greater amount of time than
any employer would toleratdd. at 53.

4. The ALJ's Decision

On June 25, 2014, the ALJ found Plaintiff ineligible for disability benefdsat 21. In

an eleverpagedecision, theALJ evaluated Plaintiff's conditions based on the above evedenc

17 Unskilled work involves

little or no judgment to do simple duties that can be learned on the job in @shod of time. . . . [A]
person can usually learn to do the job in 30 days, and little specific maaigpreparation and judgment are
needed.

20 C.F.R. § 416.968(a).
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theadministrative recordld. at 19. The undersigned recounts the relevant porticihe 6i_J's
findings below.
a. Comparing Plairtiff's Impairments to Appendix Listings

Applying the required five-step process for evaluating disabilities, theifstJound
that Plaintiff was not engaged in substantial gainful actisibnceMay 8, 2012the alleged
disability onset dateld. at 11, 13.At step two, the ALJ determinglat Plaintiffwas diagnosed
with severe medical impairments in her right knee, cervical spine, lumbar spinefta
shoulder. I8

At step three, the ALJ compared Plaintiff's severe medical impairments to deddrlis
Appendix 1 of 20 C.F.R. Part 404, Subpart P, finding that none of her impainmeinis
equaled thoskstings. 1d. In light of Plaintiff's specificimpairments, thé\LJ comparecher
impairments tdisting 1.02, which applies to major joint dysfunctions, and listing 1.04, which
applies to disorders of the spinkel. Listing 1.02 is

[c]haracterized by gross anatomical deformity . . . and chronic joint painth . wi

signs of limitation of motion or other abnormal motion of the affected joint(s),

and findings on appropriate medically acceptable imaging of joint space

narrowing, bony destruction, or ankylosis of the affected joint(s).
20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, § 1.02. For upper extremities, the regulation requires both
of the claimant’s joird to be affectedd. § 1.02B, and weight-bearing joints, including the knee,
must suffer &n extreme limitation of the ability to walkséeid. § 1.00B2b(1). Listing 1.04
requires, at a minimum, that the claimant’s spine disorder compromise ao&ree the spinal

cord. Id. 8 1.04. In addition, the claimant must present evidence of nerve root compression,
spinal arachnoiditis, or lumbar spinal stenosis.8 1.04A—C.
18 plaintiff's “severe impairments” included: arthritis of the righte, degenerative disc disease of the cervical

spine with radiculopathy, statyp@st anterior discectomy and fusion, disc desiccation and bulging of tbhadum
spine, and rotator cuff syndrome of the left shoulder. AR 13.
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The ALJ concluded, without explanation, that “the severity of [Plaintiff's] innpents
[did] not meet or equal any section of the Social Security listings.” ARSiRte he concluded
that none of Plaintiff's impairments met or equaled ad&#ned lising, the ALJ could not
conclusively determine at step three whether Plaintiff was disabled. Thbusl.d next
considered the administrative record to arrive at Plaintiff's REC.

b. Determining Plaintiff's RFC

Examining the objective medical evidence, opinions of physicians, and Plaintiff’s
testimony, the ALJ determined that Plaintiff's RFC allovned to performlight work, with the
additional caveats that Plaintiff can never push or pull with her left arm, nawer rdpes,
ladders, or scaffolds, and only occasionally reach overhead with her leftdaran.14. In
assessing Plaintiff's subjectiveports of painthe ALJ explained that while Plaintiff's
“determinable impairments could reasonably be expédoteduse the alleged symptdrhs. .
[Plaintiff's] statements concerning the intensity, persistence, and limifieci®of these
symptoms are not entirely credible[.]d. at 15 The ALJ further stated that “[Plaintiff’s]
conditions do not so severely limit [her] exertional activities to render hadoldd” Id.

The ALJfirst notedthat Plaintiff's treatment “has largely consisted of conservative
medical care” since her alled onset dateld. at 18. He highlighted Plaintiff'santerior
discectomy and fusion of the cervical spine from July 21, 2009, noting that she returned to work
after the procedure and that subsagunedical analyses only founcelatively mild”
abnormaliies in her cervical spindd. at 18, 706. The ALJ also noted Plaintiff's rotator cuff
tear and tendinitis in her left shoulder, butenephasizedhat her physicians “determined that
she was not a surgical candidate and prescribed her conservative medicatiommeahagd

physical therapy.”ld. at 18, 336, 360, 508e further emphasized that Dr. Dalvi’s treatment
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notes “recommended weight loasd exercise” to treat Plaintifftsght knee, rather than a
decrease in physical activityd. at 18, 719.

Next, the ALJaccounted for the medical reports from Drs. Torres, Ahktar, and Jacobson,
whichrestricted Plaintiff's level of workluringfinite periods. Id. at 18, 706-08, 712-13 he
ALJ foundthat these excused absences from work “were short term, restrictindifdfimork
activity for periods ranging from a few days to weekigl’at 18. The ALJ found that Plaintiff's
medical records did not support a permanent restriction and that her treatments wiak rawtt*
precluding [Plaintiff] from all activity.”ld. He alsoobservedhat multiplephysicians
recommended exercise to treat Pldiisticonditions, which did not suppadnerallegations “of
severe and ongoing restriction in daily activities due to her conditiddsdt 18, 363, 433, 719.
The ALJemphasizedhat Plaintiff independently terminated her prescrigiand ovethe
courter medications because she either deemed them to be ineffective or perceived ativerse si
effects. Id. at 18, 39, 718.

The ALJ assigned “significant weight” to the medicgdinions of Drs. Hemphill and
Pinder, the State agency medical consultants, because “their opwmere$well supported by
the objective record as a wholdd. at 19. Both doctors determined that Plaintiff was capable
of performing light work.Id. at 71, 82.The ALJ stated that Hearefully reviewedtheir
opinions and considered their evidence in accordance with SSR 98-6p.19 seeSSR 966p,
1996 WL 374180, at *1 (July 2, 1996) (discussing requirement for the ALJ to consider factual
findings by State agency medical consultants as “expert opinion evidence eXamming
sources”).

As for Plaintiff's representationghe ALJdeterminedhatherstatements weréot

entirely supported by the record as a whole, and are only partially ctedi#e19. In reaching



Appendix A

this decision, the ALJ considered both Plaintiff’'s hearing testimony andiherdn report.ld.
at 18. The ALJ noted Plaintiff's reports of severe limitations regarding her meoakentration
and ability to perfornphysicalactivities. Id. at 18, 37-39, 259-63le concludedhat these
reportswere not supported by Plaintiff’'s objective medical records or her physitieagnent
recommendationsld. Additionally, he found that “the objective evidence does not indicate”
thatDr. Torresrestricted her to work which excluded heavy lifting, pushing, pulling, and over
three hours of activityld. at 18-19, 50. Although Plaintiff claimed that Dr. Torres issued a note
to her with these restrictionBy. Torres’ allegedahote canot be found in the record. Another
note from Dr. Torres restricted Plaintiff fawo weekdrom lifting only. Id. at 707. The ALJ
acknowledgedPlaintiff's morphine prescription from April 3, 2014, id. at 7B4f he statethat
her records “show[ed] that prior to this point her treatment . . . was largelycatmsz” 1d. at
19. Following these findings, the ALJ concluded that Plaimidésessethe RFC to

perform light work],] . . . except she carver pgh and pull with the left upper

extremity. [Plaintiff] can occasionally reach overhead with the left upper

extremity. She should never climb ladders, ropes, and scaffolds. [Plaintiff] can

frequently climb stairs and ramps, balance, stoop, kneel, crouch, and crawl.
Id. at 14.

C. Finding That Plaintiff Could Return to Past Relevant Work

After determininghatPlaintiff's RFC limited her to light work, the Alidroceeded to
step fourof his analysis Id. at 19. He evaluated Plaintiffresidual capability to péarm her
past work as a malil clerk amdncluded, based on the DOT and testimony from the VE, that

Plaintiff retained substantial capability to perform that previous [db.Therefore, the ALJ

found that Plaintiff was not disabled under step fddr.
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d. Finding That Plaintiff Could Adjust to Other Work

Proceeding to step five in the alternatitree ALJ examined whether Plaintiff could
performother light wak available inthe national economn light of her age, education, work
experience, and RFAd. In reaching his decision, ti#d_J againrelied on the DOT and
testimony by the VEId. at 20. The VE testified that Plaintiff's physical and mental capabilities
would satisfy the requirements for employment as an inspéictat taker, ograding and
sorting worker.ld. at 51. The ALJthereforefound thatPlaintiff wasalsonot disabled under
step five. Id. at 20.

5. Plaintiff's Complaint in the District Court

Proceedingro se Faintiff commencedhis actionin this Court under 42 U.S.C. §
405(g),seeking review othe Commissioner’denial ofherclaims for disabilityinsurance
benefitsand supplemental security income. @ppears to requestat the Courteverse the
Commissioner’s decision an the alternativeissue an ordeemanding the case to the
Commissioner for a new administrative heariggePl. Mot. at 1.

6. Plaintiff's Additional Evidence

Accompanying Plaintiff's motion and replgtterswereadditionalmedical recordsvhich
post-date the ALJ’s decision from June 25, 20Bkeid.; PIl. Reply at 3. Theecordsinclude
additional information regarding Plaintiff's right foot, cervical spine, and lurapme
impairments, as well asthermedicalconditions. PIl. Mot. at 2, 4, 10, 20, 28, 31, 34; PIl. Reply at
3. She explained that difficulties azquiring medical insurancelayed the completion of her
medical treatments, whidltelayed the submissiarit thesemedical records to both the ALJ and

her attorney. PIl. Mot. at 1.
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a. Drs. Kirk Geter and Janaki Kalyanam — Treating Physicians

On June 22, 2015, Plaintiff saw Dr. Kirk Geter to treat her foot pgdirat 2. She
reported pain, swelling, and numbness in her right fabt.Dr. Geter observed an abnormal
range of motion in Plaintiff's ankle and that she used a cane to amblda#¢ 5. Dr. Geter
ordered a bilateral foot-Xay, which found no fracture, dislocation, or acute bony abnormalities.
Id. at 6, 16. Plaintiff also visited Dr. Janaki Kalyanam with complaints of foot pain on July 6,
2015. Id. at 7. During that visit, she reported radiating foot pain which led to stiffnesstiltyf
bearing weight or ambulating, and additional pain in her right thidhDr. Kalyanam observed
no visible deformities and recommended physical therapy and a nerve conductyon stud
(“NCS”). Id. at 7, 9. The NCS found nerve root irritation on the left side of Plaintiff's L5
vertebrae.ld. at 11.

During Plaintiff's follow-up with Dr. Kalyanam on July 8, 2015, Plaintiff again reported
radiating pain in her right foot, as well as pain in her lower b&tkat 10. She rated the pain as
a 10 out of 10 which she claimed would worsen while sitting, lifting, bending, or lying down.
Dr. Kalyanam made no treatment recommendations but assessed Plaintifftévaldig
paresthesiald. at 111° On July 14, 2015, Plaintiff returned to Dr. Geter with similar reports of
pain, swelling, and numbness in her right folot. at 14. Dr. Geter noted 5 out of 5 muscle
strength in all of Plaintiff’'s muscle groups, but he recommended surgeryatittaNCS,

depending on the results of a future consultation viditat 182°

19 paresthesia involves a sensation of pricking, tingling, or creeping shiththat has no objective causgee
MerriamWebster Medical Dictionary, “paresthesia” (rev. ed. 20883jlableat http://www.merriam
webster.com/dictionary/paresthesia (last visited July 15, 2016).

20 plaintiff's additional medical records do not reveal the nature of thisuttation nor the visit’s results.
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b. Drs. Kandie Tateand Kermit Crowder — Treating Physicians

On August 27, 2015, Plaintiff saw Dr. Kandie Tate, who was listed as her primary care
physician, with reports of leg and lower back pdoh.at 20. She also reported a worsening
mood due to “her inability to work.1d. Dr. Tate noted Plaintiff's potential depression, but
Plaintiff declined to discuss treatmentd. at 21-22. Regarding Plaintiff's purported leg and
back painDr. Tate referred heo a neurologist foa peripheral neuropatlgyaluation Id. On
August 31, 2015, Plaintiff saw Dr. Roger Weir, a neurologisttifar evaluation Id. at 26. Dr.
Weir observed tha®laintiff had a gradual onset of mild limping and that her “[slymptoms [were]
worsening.” Id. He orderedCT examinations of Plaintiff's cervical and lumbar spinal columns.
Id. at 30.

Dr. Kermit Crowder, a radiologist, reviewed the CT exams on September 21, 18046.
28-29. He believed that Plaintiff's cerviegpine examination suggested multilevel cervical
spondylosis at the C3-C4 and C5-C6 vertebra, but that an MRI would provide “more definitive”
results. Id. at 28. This examination also revealed posterior disc bulging and disc osteophyte
complexes at multiple levels, but most pronounced at the C4-C5 and C5-C6 vedelida.
Crowder found no acute fracturesubluxation at Plaintiff's cervical or lumbar spinal columns.
Id. at 28-29. For Plaintiff's lumbar-spine examination, Dr. Crowder found mild spondylosis
which was most pronounced at the facets of heLh &ertebra, but there was no central canal or
neuroforaminal narrowingld. at 29.

C. Dr. Peter Whitesell- Consultative Physician

During a visit with Dr. Tate on December 10, 2015, Plaintiff reported “waking up with

the inability to move,” which she claimed was accompanied by shortness of breédtiy pain.

Id. at 44. Dr. Tate assessed Plaintiff for deep venous thrombosis but found no blood clots in her
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leg. Id. at 43. She referred Plaintiff to a specialist for further treatmdnat 46. Plaintiff saw
Dr. Peter Whitesell, a sleep disorder specialist, on January 7, B036.47. Plaintiff reported
her sleep disorder manifested two years earlier and had since occurrednagialy twenty
times each yearld. Dr. Whitesell ordered a pulmonary function test (“PFT") with
bronchodilation to evaluate Plaintiff's lungSeeid. at 50. He discussed potential causes of
sleepparalysis and that Plaintiff's shortness of breath could be symptomatic obagthnbr.
Whitesell opined that if Plaintiff’'s PFT returned normal results, she couid bggrcise to treat
her symptomsJd. These results were not included in Plaintiff's additional medical records.
d. Dr. Jennifer Landrette — Consultative Psychologist

On September 8, 2015, Dr. Tate performed a depression screening for Plaintifebecaus
she had reported a depressed mood, feelings of failure, poor concentration, insomnigm@nd los
interest in daily activitiesld. at 31. At the conclusion of the screening, Dr. Tate assessed
Plaintiff with moderate depression and referred her to a psychiatriakgtedd. at 32-33.
Plaintiff met with Dr. Jennifer Landrette, ayzhologist, on January 28, 2016, for an initial
psychological evaluation. PIl. Reply at 3. She reported feeling frighteneddwdes to losing
her job, and she further represented poor concentration, feelings of guilt, and aseidcre
appetite.Id. Dr. Landrette observed that Plaintiff walks with a limp, but she found that Hlaintif
possessed “fair concentration” and a “good shemta memory.”Id. at 4. She diagnosed
Plaintiff with major depressive disorder and prescribed Cymbalta fontesdtd.

On February 11, 2016, Plaintiff told Dr. Landrette that she voluntarily discontinued
Cymbalta due to gastrointestirtastress and headachdd. at 5. Dr. Landrette informed
Plaintiff that those symptoms would cease after a few weeks, but she refesatinue the

treatment.Id. She also reported difficulty sleeping, an inconsistent appetite, and that her
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depression had persistetdl. Dr. Landrette discontinued Plaintiff’'s Cymbalta prescription and
replaced it with Effexor, another amepressant.Id. at 6. She also counseled Plaintiff regarding
healthy eating habits and the values of a-thwelesterol dietld. On March 15, 2016, Plaintiff
returned to the clinic, reporting only minimal stomach discomfort while on &ffdg. at 7. In

light of that information, Plaintiff's Effexor dosage was increaded.

Throughout the period of treatment described in Plaintiff's newly submitted records
spanning approximately June 2015 to March 2016, those records do not indicate that she was
taking any narcotic pain relievers. The only pain relievers listed in thoselsea@ non-
narcotic medications gabapentin and cyclobenzaprirgeePl. Mot. at 45

LEGAL STANDARD

A district court has jurisdiction over a civil case challenging a final disald#itysion of
the Commissioner. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 405(g). The court has the authority to reverse or remand the
Commissioner’s decision if it iseithersupported by substantial evidence made in

accordance with applicable law or regulations. Biebardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 401

(1971);Simms v. Sullivan877 F.2d 1047, 1047 (D.C. Cir. 1989). Substantial evidence is “such

relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to supportiarcbnclus
Richardson, 402 U.S. at 401 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Substantial evidence
requires “more than a mere scintilla of evidence, but can be satisfied by sgnhetkithan a

preponderance of the evidence.” Fla. Mun. Power Agency v. Fed. Energy RegulatorinComm

315 F.3d 362, 365—-66 (D.C. Cir. 2003). The reviewing court must also determine whether the

21 Gabapentin is an anticonvulsant used to treat seiznegve pain, and restless legs syndroBeeMerriam
Webster Medical Dictionary, “gabapentin” (rev. ed. 20@%gilableat http://www.merriamwebster.com/medical/
gabapentin (last visited July 15, 201&yclobenzaprine is “a skeletal muscle relaxant administered . . . to relieve
muscle spasms and painSeeMerriamWebster Medical Dictionary, “cyclobenzaprine” (rev. ed. 2088ilable
athttp://www.merriarawebster.com/medical/cyclobenzaprine (last visited July 15, 2016).
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ALJ “has analyzed all evidence and has sufficiently explained that weight he leastgiv

obviously probative exhibits.”Simms 877 F.2d at 1050 (quotirgtewart v.Secy of HEW,

714 F.2d 287, 290 (3d Cir. 1983)).

The district court’s role is not to reweigh the evidence but only to determine wttethe
ALJ’s findings are based on substantial evidence and a correct integorefahe law. Butler,
353 F.3dat999. The plaintiff bears the burden to prove that the Commissioner’s decision is not

supported by substantial evidendgallahan 786 F. Supp. 2d at 98rown v. Barnhart, 408 F.

Supp. 2d 28, 31 (D.D.C. 2006). The D.C. Circuit has instructed that “[iffabe is one that
involves the taking of additional evidence for any reason, the district courtgatell to obtain
an enhancement or revision of the record by way of remand to the [Commissiottexn]’tihan

outright reversal. Callahan 786 F. Supp. 2d at 93 (quoting Ignoia v. Califano, 568 F.2d 1383,

1389 (D.C. Cir. 1977)).
DISCUSSION
In thepresentase Plaintiff makes no legal argument to contest the ALJ’
determinations. However, the Court applies special latitud@ro seplaintiff’s filings. See

e.g, Toolasprashad v. Bureau of Prisons, 286 F.3d 576, 583 (D.C. Cir. Z00®)y. Astrue,

839 F. Supp. 2d 204, 211 (D.D.C. 201P)aintiff’s submissions this Courtread generously,
proffertwo arguments for reversing the Commissioner’s deciskorst, Plaintiff appears to
asserthat the ALJX findings werenot supportedby substantial evidencesecondPlaintiff
appears to requestmand for consideration of theedical recordattached to her letterSee
Pl. Mot. at 1; Pl. Reply at 3. The undersigned will address these arguments bealavg ine
mind that the court’s role when reviewing the Commissioner’s disability decisionst to

determine . . . whether [Plaintiff§ idisabled,” but to “assess only whether the ALJ’s finding that



Appendix A

[Plaintiff] is not [disabled] is based on substantial evidence and a correicagippl of the law.”
Butler, 353 F.3d at 999.

A. Substantial Evidence Supports the ALJ’s DisabilityDetermination

To assess Plaintiff'shallengethat the ALJ’s ultimate decisionas not supported by
substantial evidence, the undersigned exthluate each dhe ALJ'sadverse findingsThe ALJ
made decisions adverse to Plaintiffstep three, fougndfive of his analysi@ndduring his
RFC determination.The undersigned findbat substantial evidence suppoeischof these
determirations.

1. The ALJ'sFinding that Plaintiff's Severe Impairments Did Not Meet the
Social Securityistings

In his decision, the ALJ compar@daintiff's physical impairments with the relevant
listings in the appendix to the Social Security disability regulations and dieterthat none of
Plaintiff's conditionsmeet or equathose listings Although the ALJ offered only cursory
analysis at this step of his decisigeeAR 14, the undersignezhnnot conclude that reversal is
warranted.

First, Plaintiff's left shoulder impairment does not meet or equal listing 1.02hwhic
requires a claimant’s uppgint impairments to affect both extremities. 20 C.F.R. Pt. 404,
Subpt. P, App. 1, 8 1.00B2c. Plaintiff's rotator cuff syndrome only affected one upper extremit
— her left shoulder. AR 338-39. Thus, substantial evidence suppoftsXiseconclusionthat

Plaintiff's shoulder injury does not equal listing 1.08. at14; seeTripp v. Astrue, 864 F. Supp.

2d 120, 125 (D.D.C. 2012) (finding that medical evidence and the plaintiff's representations
supported the conclusion that his right wrist laceration did not meet or equal listing dad2de

the severe impairment was “limited to one upper extremity”).
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Similarly, Plaintiff’s right knee impairment @snot meet or equal listing 1.02, which
requires impairments to weighearing joints to presenaf extreme limitation of the ability to
walk’ in order to render a claimant disableg8ee20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, 8
1.00B2b(1). Yet both Plaintiff's testimony and her physician’s recommendatang that her
knee arthritis did not limit her ability to walk, AR 46 (Plaintiff reporting that shiksva quarter
of a mile three time per week), 719 (Dr. Dalvi recommending exercise to treat Plaintiffs kne
pain), and the State agency medical consultants both found that she could “stand, walk, and
move about,” id. at 72, 83. As a result, substantial evidence also suppdststheonclusion
that Plaintiff's right knee impairments do not equal listing 1.82eid. at 14.

Finally, Plaintiff's spinal impairmentdo not meet or equal listing 1.04d. at 14.

Plaintiff's severe spinal impairments included: (1) degenerative disas#if the cervical

spine with radiculopathy, (2) status-post anterior discectomy and fusion, ansic(8gdiccation

and bulging of the lumbar spine. AR 13, 385, 696, 723. Listingflt24equires a claimant’s
spinal disorders to compromise either a nerve rotitespinal cord. 20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt.

P, App. 1, 8 1.04. According to Plaintiffs MRI results from June 24, 2012, which displayed “up
to moderate neural foraminal and minimal central canal stenosis,” her impaimagnteot have

compromised her nerve root or spinal cord. AR 3&&eMorris v. Astrue, No. 3:085V-77,

2009 WL 399447, at *4 (E.D. Tenn. Feb. 18, 2009) (upholding an ALJ’s step-three findings
when the plaintiff's MRI showed “only mild neural foraminal [stenosis]” besmathat did not
satisfy the threshold requirement for listing 1.0#he ALJ failed to elucidate why Plaintiff’s
impairments did not satisfy thikreshold requirement, howevere€AR 14. The undersigned

will therefore consider thesting’s additionalequirements.SeealsoMorris v. Colvin, No.

1:15¢v-00193TWP-TAB, 2016 WL 1057046, at *8 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 17, 2016) (using the ALJ’s
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consideration of medical evidence in other areas of his decision to assist jesieia of his
stepthree findings).Those additional requirements are:

A. Evidence of nerve root compression characterized by raatmimic

distribution of pain, limitation of motion of the spine, motor loss (atrophy with

associated muscle weakness or muscle weakness) accompanied by@enso

reflex loss and, if there is involvement of the lower back, positive streght-

raising test (sitting and supine); or

B. Spinal arachnoiditis, confirmed by an operative note or pathology report of

tissue biopsy, or by appropriate medically acabl@ imaging, manifested by

severe burning or painful dysesthesia, resulting in the need for changes onpositi

or posture more than once every 2 hours; or

C. Lumbar spinal stenosis resulting in pseudoclaudication, established by

findings on appropriatmedically acceptable imaging, manifested by chronic

nonradicular pain and weakness, and resulting in inability to ambulate effectively,

as defined in 1.00B2b.
20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, 8 1.04A-C. Thus, in order to fully satisfy listinghe 04,
regulation requires, in addition to compromise of a nerve root or the spinal cord, thatlome of t
three circumstances above be presésht.

Even assuming that Plaintiff's impairments meet the threshold requirement of listing
1.04, none of the recomliidence establishes that Plaintiff’'s cervical or lumbar spinal
impairments satisfgny subpart of 1.04. The State agency medical consultants, whom the ALJ
accorded “substantial weight” during his RFC determination, both found “no significestdie

wealness or loss control . . . secondary to nerve damage” upon consideration of Plgnmf's s

impairments. AR 19, 72, 88gealsoCarnett v. Colvin, 82 F. Supp. 3d 1, 14 (D.D.C. 2015)

(emphasizing that an ALJ’s stéipree finding was supported by twag&t agency medical
consultants who determined that the plaintiff's impairments did not meet lidtidgor 1.04).
Substantial evidence therefore supports the conclusion that Plaickifsufficient motor loss to

satisfy listing 1.04A without evidence of muscle weakness in her spine. Mordwvezcord
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lacks evidence th&laintiff ever receive@ “positive straighteg raising test (sitting and

supine)” as listing 1.04A require§ee20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, 8 1.04A. The record
also hcks evidence that Plaintiff was diagnosed with spinal arachnoiditis, wieskastiafor

listing 1.04B. Seeid. 8 1.04B. Additionally, as discussed above, both Plaintiff's testimony and
medical opinions in the record contradict the notion that she was unable to ambul&tebffec
which is a basicequirement for listing 1.04CSeeid. 8§ 1.04C; AR 46, 72, 83, 718¢ealso

Morris, 2016 WL 1057046, at *8 (“The record supports the ALJ’s decision that there was
insufficient evidence to establish the criteria and subcriteria fomgistl.04(A), (B), and (C).”).
Accordingly, the ALJ’s stephree conclusions are supported by substantial evidence.

2. The ALJ's Determinatiomhat Plaintiffs RFCPermits Light Work

Substantial evidence also supports the ALJ’s conclubainPlaintiff's RFC permitted
her to perform light work To determine a claimant’'s RFC, the ALJ must consider objective
medical evidence, medical opinions, and statements from the claimant. 20 C.F.R. §
416.929(c)(1).A claimant’s statements “may not be disregarded solely because they are no
substantiated bylgective medical evidence.” SSR-96, 1996 WL 374186, at *1. Instead, the
ALJ must assess the claimant’s credibility based on the entire recotdiingcher own previous
representations of pain and the extent by which her pain can be controllectatiinent.

Hartline v. Astrue, 605 F. Supp. 2d 194, 206 (D.D.C. 2009); Pinkney v. Astrue, 675 F. Supp. 2d

9, 21 (D.D.C. 2009)A review of the record demonstrates tthet ALJproperlyconsidered

objective medical evidence and opinions from medigpkgs in reaching his decision, and he

had a sufficient basis on which to discoBtdintiff’'s subjective complaintsSeeAR 14-19.
TheALJ first considereaxtensivemedical records regardirijaintiff's knee, spine, and

shoulder to compile his RFC assessment, ndtiagonservative treatments for each
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impairment Seeid. at 15 seealsolLee v. Barnhart, 214 F. App’x 660, 661 (9th Cir. 2006)

(“[T]he medical evidence . . . supported the [ALJ’s] determination that [theiffjlavas not
disabled . . because he sufferetbfn an impairment that improved
with conservativareatment]”). Indeed, Dr. Dalvi recommended ovire-counter pain
relievers and exercise to treat Plaintiff's knee, AR 719, Drs. Akhtar andsTi@commended
physical therapy and muscle relaxants, respectively, to treat Plairttiftdder,id. at 336, 360,
and Ms. Francis treated Plaintiff's back pain with cold packs and home exerldsas.324.

The ALJ'sRFCfinding was further supported lllye medical opinions of Drs. Pinder and
Hemphill, the State agency medical consultants, who both determinedatingitf2 physical
limitations would allow the performance of light world. at 71, 82. Dr. Pinder reached her
conclusion after noting that Plaintiff could freely ambulate, drive a cdrcamplete household
chores, idat 76-72, and Dr. Hemphill certified Dr. Pinder’s opinion, findthgt Plaintiff could
occasionally lift twenty pounds, frequently lift ten pounds, and stand, walk, or six foosis
during a traditional workday, all of which suppartRFCfor light work. See20 C.F.R. §
404.1567(b); AR 80.

Theundersignealsofinds thatthe ALJappropriately found Plaintitess crediblen
light of the inconsistenclgetween her representations dine record.SeePinkney, 675 F. Supp.
2d at 21.1In his analysis, the ALJ determined that Plaintiff's statements were “notlgntire
supported by the record as a whole, and [were] only partially credible.” ARIatiff
represented in her function report that she has difficulty completing household tiabkas s
bathing and dressing herself, and that she has problems returning to a standomy posét
263. During the administrative hearing, Plaintg$tifiedthat she cannot stand longer than

twenty minutes, sit longer than thirty minutes, or lift more than ten pounds without iexioigic
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pain. Id. at 39. These representations were contradicted by the opinions of Drs. Pinder and
Hemphill, noted above, who both found that Plaintvfis capable of substantially more physical
exertion. Seeid. at 71, 80.

Plaintiff's testimony regarding the extent of her daily activities further dimmauder

purportedimitations. SeeEspinosa v. Colvin, 953 F. Supp. 2d 25, 34 (D.D.C. 2013) (analyzing

the credibility of a plaintiff's subjectiveepresentations against his own statements regarding

daily activities);Grant v. Astrue, 857 F. Supp. 2d 146, 156 (D.D.C. 2012) (finding that ALJ

properly considered claimant’s reports of daily activities when assedaintant’s complaints
of pain). Plaintiff stated in her function report that she could drive a car, shopgabteey
store, iron her clothes, and prepare her own meeiks260—61. The ALJ acknowledged
Plaintiff's reportedphysical and mental limitationgl. at 37439, 259—-63, but fountthat
“[Plaintiff's] medical treatment, physical examinations[,] and recommendafiwrczare [did] not

support” those limitations|d. at 18;seePayne v. Shalal&o. 93-0288 (NHJ), 1993 WL

405747, at *3 (D.D.C. Sept. 24, 1993) (finding substantial evidence supported an ALJ’s
disability determination when he considered both objective medical evided@viaence from
the plaintiff’'s daily routine).

Plaintiff's generally conservative treatmeptevided additional support fohe ALJ’s

credibility deermination. SeeParra v. Astrue481 F.3d 742, 751 (9th Cir. 2007)E}vidence of

conservative treatment is sufficient to discount a claimant’s testimony regaegigf\ys of an
impairment.”) (internal quotation marks omittetfiartline 605 F. Supp. 2d at 206 (finding ALJ
appropriately considered claimant’s complaints “to be only fair at bésthvALJ noted, among
other factors, the effectiveness of medication in alleviating claimant’s sympté&asntiff

asserted that Dr. Torres restricted hewtwk which excluded heavy lifting, pushing, pulling,
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and over three hours of activity, AR 50, but the ALJ found that “the objective evidence does not
indicate such restrictions were recommendetl,at 18-19. The evidencestead revealed
conservative gatments, discussed above, including overcthaiter pain relievers, exercise,

and physical therapySeeid. at 324, 336, 360, 7189eealsoYoumans v. Astrue, 856 F. Supp. 2d

218, 222 (D.D.C. 2012) (distinguishing conservative treatments, swichrascription inhaler
from non-conservative treatments, such as surgery).

The only treatment that on its face appearscmmservative is Plaintiff snorphine
prescription from April 3, 2014AR 724. TheALJ distinguished this treatment, statitgt
Plaintiff's records “show[ed] that prior to this point her treatmentwas largely conservative,”
id. at 19. Itis true that morphine is a powerful narcotic painkiller and is geneialgd as

non-conservative treatmenSeeDurham v. Colvin, Case No. CV 15-00567-RA0, 2015 WL

9305627, at *11 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 21, 2015). Some courts, however, distinguish instances of
infrequent or short-term narcotic usage with long-term prescriptions thaiwgsked witha

larger plan of norconservative trément. 1d. In the latter case, “the claimants typically used
narcotic medications in conjunction with other treatments which were also notvainget

Id.; seealsoHanes v. Colvin, No. 14-16055, 2016 WL 32121522 (9th Cir. June 10, 2016)

(rejectng ALJ’s conclusion that “high doses of a variety of powerful narcotic painkillers
(including Opana, Fentanyl, and morphine),” coupled with “spinal injections and exglieficy
ablation,” constituted conservative treatmery contrast, “[the use of narcotic medication, by

itself, may be considered conservative treatmebButham, 2015 WL 9305627, at *11; Purnell

v. Astrue, 662 F. Supp. 2d 402, 410 (E.D. Pa. 2009) (“[T]he use of a commonly prescribed pain
medication, evea narcotic, does not remove [claimant’s] treatment from the realm of

conservative treatmenj.”
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Here, the record shows a single instanca wércotigrescriptionj.e., morphine, in
April 2014 just prior to the administrative hearindR 724. The record also shows that, at least
around the time of the May 2014 administrative hearing, Plaintiff was takioiipemarcotic,
Percocet Seeid. at 3822 But Plaintiff's new medicals records, which date from June 2015 to
March 2016, do not contain any prescription for any narcotic medication, nor does any physicia
mentioned in those records prescribe one. It seems Plaintiff was prescrilmdwoe
painkillers,but nonds a narcotic.Further, there is no record evidence that Plaintiff's treatme
with narcotics at or around the time of the administrative hearing was cotiplanyiother non-
conservative treatment. Thus, the record undermines any claim that Pdausgfof morphine
was anything more than an isolated, shenta treatmentor pain. This lack of evidence
supports thé\LJ’s view that themorphine prescription, standing alom&gsconservative
treatment.SeeDurham 2015 WL 9305627, at *1Buford, 2015 WL 4403071, at *4.

In this way, this case mirroksiginio v. Colvin, No. EDCV 12-1820 AJW, 2014 WL

47935, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2014). There, the court upheld the ALJ’s credibility
determination against the plaintiff's challenge that the ALJ had improperggdirded her

narcotic treatmentsld. Although the record showed that the plaintiff had taken some narcotics,
including Vicodin, in the past, “[p]laintiff [had] not pointed to evidence in the record
documenting who prescribed [the narcotics], for how long, or the indications for piegcri

those medications.1d. Thus, the court reasoned, “[t]he fact that plaintiff may have been

prescribed [a narcotic] at some point . . . does not negate the reasonableness déthe ALJ

22 As noted above, Plaintifftatedduring her testimony before the ALJ that she was taking Percocet8 ARH&re
are no records or other evidence showing that she was ever prescribed Pestaambbiin or in addition to,
morphine. In any event, bothra similar opioid medications.
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inference that her treatment as a whole during the relevant period . . . wasaibresand
routine.” Id.
Here, much likeHiginio, the Court has no evidence other than the lone 2014 morphine
prescription that Plaintiff ever took a narcotic drug to treat her pain. Thisedatestance is not

enough to warrant reversdbeealsoBuford v. Colvin, CASE NO. 3:14CV00295-BD, 2015 WL

4403071, at *4 (E.D. Ark. July 20, 2015) (finding that ALJ properly rejected claimant’s
complaints of pain when record showed only two instances of use of narcotic paersgliev
Moreover, even if Plaintiff continued to take morphine to this dayould notbe part of a
constellation of ongoing, non-conservative treatments. The use of morphine doesfnot itsel
mandate the conclusion that Plaintiff's treatments werecomservative, and the Court finds
substantial evidence in the record supporting the ALJ’s decision to the coaham 2015
WL 9305627, at *11; Purnell, 662 F. Supp. 2d at 410.

Moreover, the record indicates that Plaintiffilaterallydiscontinued her medication on
multiple occasionsSeeYoumans, 856 F. Supp. 2d at 222 (upholding an ALJ’s consideration of
the plaintiff's history of “not taking medications or seeking follow-up treatie At the
administrative hearing, Plaintiff testified that she was “try[ing] to wean $bdrff” of her
narcotic pain relievewithout consulting Dr. Torres, AR 37, and on October 15, 2013, she
reported to Dr. Dalvi that she unilaterally discontinued Dr. Lin’s prescribedcatexhis beause
of perceived sideffects,id. at 718. Accordingly, substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s
credibility determinatia because thebjective medical evidence and Plaintiff’'s conservative
treatments sufficiently contradicted her subjective representationsoftpartline 605 F. Supp.

2d at 206; Pinkney, 675 F. Supp. 2d at 21. As a result, the undersigned finds that substantial

evidence supports the ALJ’'s RFC determination.
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3. The ALJ's kEnding that Plaintiff Could Return to Past Relevant Work

The ALJ made another adverse determination atfstepfinding that Plaintiffcould
retum to herpast work as a mail clerk. For a claimant to prove that she lacks the capability to
perform her past relevant work, shreetessarily must establish what the requirements are of that

past work” Stankiewicz v. Sullivan, 901 F.2d 131, 133 (D.C. Cir. 1990). According to

Plaintiff's testimony, working as a mail clerk required “writing on formgaking mail, lifting,
[and] pulling cages.” AR 34. In reaching his step-four determination, the ALJ relied on the
DOT and theVE's testimony. Id. at 19. During the administrative hearing, the VE testified that
someone who could perform “a full range of light woiliké Plaintiff, could maintain work as a
mail clerk, as defined by the DOTd. at 51. The ALJ further determined that the VE'’s
testimony was consistent with the information contained in the D@Tat 20;seeDOT, No.
209.687-02Gcategorizinghe occupation of mail clerk déght work™). Thus, substantial
evidence supports the ALJ’s finding that Plaintiff could metio working as a mail cleri

4, The ALJ's Fndingthat Plaintiff Could Adjust to Other Work

Finally, the Commissionanetherburden to show that jobs existed in significant
numbers in the national economy to accommodate Plaintiff's light-work €€ e.q,
Callahan786 F. Supp. 2d at 89 (shifting the burden of proof to the Commissioner only for the
stepfive determination) At step five, the ALJ must considea tlaimant’s [RFC], age,
education and work experience to determine whether she can perform other wonk activit

Davis v. Astrue, 602 F. Supp. 2d 214, 227 (D.D.C. 2009). At the ohBédintiff's alleged

2 The VE also testified that a person who must alternate between sittintaadihg positions every thirty minutes
could not maintain work as a mail clerk. AR-52. While the VE represented that Plaintiff could not naémt
work as a mail clerk if she also had a “sit/stand” requirenseeid. at 5152, Plaintiff's RFC did not require
alternation between sitting and standigggid. at 15. As a result, the sit/stand discussion did not affect the end
result.
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disability, she was 51 years old wigtlimited education. AR 11, 19Since Plaintiff is a person
closely approaching advanced age, the SSA must considghirqtage along with a severe
impairment(s) . . may seriously affect [her] ability to adjust to atheork.” See20 C.F.R. §
416.963d). Further, Plaintiff's limited education would prevent her from accomplishing “most
of the more complex job duties needed in semi-skilled or skilled jdBseld. 8§ 416.9640)(3).

TheALJ properly elied onthe DOT andhe VE's testimony that someone with
Plaintiff's characteristics and limitations could find work as an inspectogtttekeror grading
and sorting worker. AR 20, 51. First, the ALJ appropriately considered Plaing& arad
severe impaments in accordance with the relevant authority. Wlaaséssing a claimant’s
ability to do other work, the ALJ must accurately describe the claimant&qathimpairments
in any question posed to theE. Butler, 353 F.3d at 1005Here, theALJ’s hypothetical
accurately described Plaintiffege, education, work history, and physical and mental
limitations. AR 14, 51.

Second, the ALJ’s consideration of the VE's testimony regarding therecasté other
jobs available in the national eaamy was supported by substantial eviderfeéeeBroyles v.
Astrue 910 F. Supp. 2d 55, 62 (D.D.C. 2017)]¢f determining whether there are jobs which
exist in significant numbers in the national economy that a claimant camrpgff. . .
anALJ mayconsiderthe testimony of &ocationalexpert”). According to the VE, Plaintiff's
RFC, age, education, and work history permitted her to find gainful employmentrespactor,
ticket taker, and grading and sorting worker. AR 51. These positiongtfat Plaintiffs RFC,
as each constitutes light work, and they account for Plainiiffised education level because

each requiresnly unskilled work.See20 C.F.R. 88 404.1567(b), 416.96%3), 416.968(a);
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DOT, No0s.344.667-010 (ticket taker), 649.687-010 (grading and sorting worker), 741.687-010
(inspector).
In addition the ALJ ‘determined that thR/E’s] testimony[wag consistent with the

information contained in the [DOT].” AR 28geBanks v. Astrue, 537 F. Supp. 2d 75, 81

(D.D.C. 2008 (discussing that the ALJ must explain any conflict between the VE's eddemd
the DOT before relying on the VE's testimonggealsoCallahan 786 F. Supp. 2d at 90When
testifying on whether a claimant can perform jobs that exist in the natamamy, the VE may
draw from . . . the DOT.”).Thus, substantial evidence supports the ALJ’s finding that Plaintiff
could adjust to other work that was available in the national economy.

B. Plaintiff’'s Additional Evidence Does Not Support Remand

Plaintiff’'s second major argument seetngsequest remand for consideration of the
additional medical recordshich she attached to her pleadin@eePI. Mot. at 1; PIl. Reply at 3.
A district court may remand disability cases to the Commissioner feideration of additional
medicalevidence pursuant to subsection (g) of section 405. 42 U.S.C. § 4B8&xguset
comes from the sixth sentencetlohtsubsection, it is known aséstencesix remand’ It is
appropriate upon a showing that (1) the evidence is new, (2) the evidence is nzater{d) the
claimant has good cause for failing to produce that evidence during a priordangcdd.; see

Melkonyan v. Sullivan, 501 U.S. 89, 98 (1991))Ithe caurt remands becausewevidence has

come to light that was not available to the claimant at the time of the administrative proceeding
and that evidence might have changed the outcome of the prior proceedingi#. present
case, he undersigned findwat sentencsix remand is unwarranted because Plaistiff’

additional evidence is redundant and immaterial.
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For evidence to be considered new, it must not have been in existence or available to the

claimant at the time of the administrative proceedifgeJones v. Astrue, 647 F.3d 350, 357—

58 (D.C. Cir. 2011). Satisfying this requirement typically satisfies tbedgage” element as
well, since the non-existence or unavailability of evidence constaudatisfactoryeason for
failing to presentti Seeid. The evidence must be dated on or before the ALJ’s decision, or, if
the evidence post-dates the ALJ’s decisibmust reasonably relabackto the time period

adjudicated by the ALJWarfield v. Colvin, 134 F. Supp. 3d 11, 17 (D.D.C. 20IR)e

evidence cannot show a newroerelyworsening conditionld. Fornew evidence to be
materialunder subsection 405(g), the claimant must show that the evidence could have changed
the prior proceeding’s outcome. Jones, 647 F.3d at 358.

1. Plaintiff's Additional Evidence is Not New

Only some of Plaintiff's additional medat records could be considered nenthin the
meaning of the ActAll of herrecords postlate theCommissioner’s finatlecision, as the
earliest is dated April 23, 201%5eePl. Mot. at 5. Therefore, Plaintiff's evidence neither existed
nor could have been available to her duringatieninistrative proceedingSeeJones, 647 F.3d
at 357-58.By extension, theecircumstances also demonstrate Plaintiff's good caurseot
presenting this evidence to the ALJ in the proceedings befaeid.

However, much of her postated evidence does not reasonably rddatkto the
administrative proceedingSeeWarfield, 134 F. Supp. 3d at 17. Plaintiff's evidence regarding
her sleep disordeend depressn presend new conditions not raised below, so they cannot be
usednow to challenge the ALJ’s decisioBeeid. By contrastthe additioal evidence
regarding hergneandright foot could reasonably relate back to the time period during which

the ALJ considered evidence regarding Plaintiff's back and right kbeePl. Mot. at 2, 28-29.
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Moreover,it is not immediately apparent that this new evidence shows awoesening of

Plaintiff's conditions SeeWatrfield, 134 F. Supp. 3d at 13eealsoHubbard v. Comm’r of Soc.

Sec, 618 F. App’x 643, 651 (11th Cir. 20150stdated medical records thakaintiff asserted
to includeworsening conditiong/erenot relevant to the issues on appeal, even if Were
dispositive for a subsequettisability benefitlaim). Viewing the evidence generousthe
undersigned wilthereforeassess the materiality of Plaintiff's additional evidecmecerning her
knee and spinal impairments.

2. Plaintiff's Additional Medical Records Are Not Material

Assuming, without deciding, thatdmtiff’'s new evidenceroperlyrelates back to the
previousadministrative proceedingeemand remains inappropriate because the evidenoce
material See42 U.S.C. § 405(g); Jones, 647 F.3d at 358. These records contain no evidence
that would have changed the prior proceeding’s outcome. Jones, 647 F.3d Re8éstly, this

Courtdetermined thasimilarly situated plainti werenot entitled to disability benefits even

after submitting new evidence to the cogeeTowers v. ColvinNo. 11-01935 DAR, 2014

WL 5487762, at *6—7 (D.D.C. Oct. 30, 2018&ott 839 F. Supp. 2d at 217-18 Towers the
plaintiff attempted to introduce a medical report that was previously unaeailabhg her
administrative hearingTowers 2014 WL 5487762, at *1. his report relatethackto the
administrative proceedindmecause itiscussedymptoms that preated the hearingld. at *6.

The ALJ had decided the plaintiff's case without the report, finding that itssina would not
affect the outcomeld. at *7. The Court agreed with the ALJ’s findings because the additional
reportwas“inconsistent with the record afwas] not supported by the evidencdd. (internal
guotation marks omitted)Likewise, thepro seplaintiff in Scotttried tointroduce new evidence

in the form of handwritten doctors’ notes that restated his medical diagri@set$.839 F. Supp.
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2d at 217. The Court found that these notes would not have changddthelecision because
they reflected facts that were already present in the re¢drdt 218.

On June 25, 2014, the Aid this case decidetthat Plaintiff's impairments failed to
equal the twdistingsfound in Appendix 1 of 20 C.F.R. Part 404, Subpart P, and that her RFC
allowedbotha return to working as a mail cleakd an adjustment wther light work available
in the national eenomy. AR 1420. Plaintiff's new medical evidence must conceivably change
at least one of those determinations to be found mat&edJones, 647 F.3d at 358. Upon a
review of Plaintiff's additional medical records, the undersigned finds ndigaston for
sentencesix remand because her evidence would not alter the ALJ’s adverse findings.

a. Plaintiff's Impairments Remain Unchanged

First, Plaintiff'sadditional evidence cannot alter the ALJ’s determination thagevaare
impairments wer@ot equivalentto those listed in Appendix IThe ALJ previouslycompared
Plaintiff's existing impairments to listings 1.02 and 1.04, finding neither lisatigfied. AR 14.
As explained above, listing 1.02 requires a showing of impairment in both upper Haa20
C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, § 1.08BRIone of Plaintiff'sadditional medical records
pertain to her shoulder impairment, so her conditgtiisdo not meet or equal thisting.
Listing 1.02 also requiresnyimpairments to aveightbearing joint taccause an “extreme
limitation of the ability to walk’ Seeid. § 1.00B2b(1). Plaintiff's additional medical evidence
contains two observations regarding her ability to ambulate: (1) Dr. Geterved that she
requires a cane tovdulate, Pl. Mot. at 5; and (2) Dr. Weir observed a gradual onset of mild
limping, id. at 26. However, Appendix 1 explains that, when considering assistive devices, an
“extreme limitation” in the ability to walk only arises when the claimant reqtiaeglker, two

crutches otwo canef]’” 20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, 8 1.00B2(¢A)phasis added)
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None of Plaintiff's additional evidengrdicates heuse of a second assistive deyse her
additional evidence would not disturb the ALStepthree findinggegardingPlaintiff's weight
bearing joint impairmentsSeeTowers 2014 WL 5487762, at *7.

For Plaintiff's additional evidence toeet or equdisting 1.04, she musirst show a
compromise to eithex nerve root oherspinal cord.See20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1, 8
1.04. Dr. Crowder’s spinal exaravealedlisc bulging at C45 and C526 and severe
neuroforaminal narrowing at C3-C4 through C5-C6, but he could not express definitive findings
without an MRI. Pl. Mot. at 28, 35. Additionally, Dr. Crowder’s spinal exam revealed nerve
root irritation on L5 ad spondylosis at L4.5, id. at 10, 12, but there was no finding that these
conditions compromised her nerve root or spinal c@d.Crowder’s findings were similar to
those of Dr. Akhtar, who opined in 201i#atPlaintiff had“possible nerve irritatiom her neck”
but did notdetermine whether that resultedarcrompromise of the nerve root or spinal cdsege
AR 713. If the ALJ did not conclude that Dr. Akhtar’s diagnosis satisfied listing 1.04, Dr.
Crowder’s similar examination would nalterthat conclusion SeeScott 839 F. Supp. 2d at
218. Furthermore, again assuming that this evidence establishes compromisevefraater
the spinal cord, there is no new evidence establishing that Plaintiff suffersrfotor loss,
spinal arachnoiditis, or an inability to ambulate effectively. 20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, App. 1,
8 1.04A-C. Therefore, Plaintiff's new evidence prd@s no basis to disturb the ALJ’s
conclusionsat step three of the disability analysis

b. Plaintiff's RFC Still Permits Her to Perform Light Work

Plaintiff's newevidence alsdoes not undermintie ALJ’sconclusion that her RFC

allowed her taeturn toperform light work To determinélaintiffs RFC, the ALJ relied on

objective medical evidencejedical expert opinions, and Plaintiff’'s representatiddsat 19.
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In his final decisionthe ALJ noted the conservative medical treatmentBIfntiff's
impairmentsincludingprescriptionrmedication and physical therapld. at 18. Similarly,

Plaintiff's postdatedtreatments includeBr. Geter's NCS, PIl. Mot. at 18, Dr. Kalyanam’s NCS

and physical therapy recommendation, id. at 9, and Ri’S\CT examination of Plaintiff's

cewical and lumbar spinal columns, id. at 30. Though Dr. Geter also recommended surgery, his
recommendation was contingent on the results of a future consultation that do not appear in
Plaintiff's motion briefs.Id. at 18. Accordingly, Plaintiff's additional evideneamains

indeterminate angdrovides no basis to disturb the ALJ’s findings thattreatment was

conservative.SeeYoumans v. Astrue, 856 F. Supp. 2d at 222.

Moreover nothing in Plaintiff's additional evidence would alter the ALJ’s determination
about her credibility.SeeAR 17. In his decision below, the ALJ discounted Plaintiff's
subjective representations because they were undermined by the objectiva madence.ld.
at 18-19. In particular, Plaintiff's testimony regarding her physical limitations ezmtradicted
by the opinions of Drs. Pinder and Hemphill, who independently determined that she could
perform light work, andby Plaintiff's conservative treatmentd. at 18-19, 71, 80. An
examination of Plaintiff’'s additional medical records reveals similarly coageevtreatments.

As explained above, although Plaintiff was prescribed morphine in April 2014, id. at 724, no
medical records from 2015 or 2016 indicate that she continues to take any narcoticamy that
of her doctors think she should. And none of Plaintiff's records contradict the opinions of Drs.
Pinder and Hemphill. Instead, they contain mdrRlaintiff's subjective representations luér

pain, AR 10, 20, 26, and examination results which the reviewing radiologist concededeould
“more definitive,” ®eid. at 28. Thus, none of the new evidence undermines the condhsion

Plaintiff retairs the RFC to perform light workSeeJones, 647 F.3d at 358; AR 18.simply
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reflects the same facts that were present during the eadh@nistrative proceedingSeeScott

839 F. Supp. 2d at 218.

C. Plaintiff's Capability to Perform Past Relevant Work or Other
Available Work Remains Unchanged

Finally, Plaintiff's newevidencedoes not changde ALJ’sconclusions that she could
either return to work as a mail clerkantjust toa similarly demandingpb availablein the
national economyln reachingooth decisions, the ALJ relied on the DOT and testimony from a
VE. AR 19-20. TheVE testified that a hypothetical person with Plaintiff's physical and mental
limitations could still return to work as a mail clerk, orthe alternativefind employment as an
inspector, ticket taker, or grading and sorting workidr.at 51. None of Plaintiff's new
evidence alters the requirements for these occupations or challenges the iatntesThus,
her additional evidence would not change the ALJ’s conclusiBesJones647 F.3d at 358.

Moreover Plaintiff's RFCappears toemain unchangeidom the ALJ’'s assessment
Additionally, her education, work experience, aighbility onset datbave not changed since
the ALJ’sdecision from June 25, 201&eeAR 19. Therefore, theew evidence does not
contradict the ALJ’s determinatidghat Plaintiff couldreturn to her past work or adjust to other
light work available in the national econom@eeJones, 647 F.3d at 358; AR 19. Accordingly,
sentencesix remand is not appropriate in this case.
CONCLUSION

For thereasons stated abovbe undersigned recommends that the Court dengtf’'s

motion for judgment of reversal and gr&dfendants motion for judgment of affirmance
* * * * *
The parties are hereby advised that failure to timely file objections to thegsnalil

recommendations set forth in this report may waive the right of appeal from ambiice
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District Courtadopting such findings and recommendatioBgeeThomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140,

154 (1985).

Date: July 26, 2016

G. MICHAEL HARVEY
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE



